
 

 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
TO: ASAHP Members  
FROM: Kristen Truong  
DATE: May 9, 2019 
RE: House Committee on Education and Labor, Higher Education and Workforce Investment 
Subcommittee Hearing on “The Cost of Non-Completion: Improving Student Outcomes in Higher 
Education” 
 

May 9, 2019, 10:15 AM, 2175 Rayburn 
[HEARING LINK] 

 
Overview: 
The House Committee on Education and Labor, Higher Education and Workforce Investment Subcommittee 
held a hearing on “The Cost of Non-Completion: Improving Student Outcomes in Higher Education” in which 
the Committee discussed barriers to enter postsecondary education and for completion:  

• Food/housing insecurity 
• Nontraditional students who have to work/take care of family 
• Changing majors which can expend Pell 
• Students short by a few hundred dollars, therefore, cannot graduate 
• “Hold-your-spot” enrollment deposit 
• FAFSA verification 

 
The Committee recognized that community colleges typically serve disadvantaged students and collaborate 
frequently with 4-year institutions and local businesses. Many community college students later transfer to 4-
year institutions or go straight into the workforce with in demand skills. For transfer students, sometimes their 
credits are not accepted at the 4-year institution, and Republicans would like to ensure transfer credits are 
accepted.  
 
Dual enrollment was seen as a way to encourage completion, but witnesses pointed out that high school 
students who take dual enrollment typically are not the students who have issues completing. Work (amount of 
financial aid) was seen as a major barrier for completion for nontraditional students. Witnesses discussed 
programs they introduced in their institutions to help students reduce work hours, which resulted in higher 
completion rates. 
 
Rep. David Trone wanted to lift the ban on Pell for prisoners, which was opposed by Chairwoman Virginia Foxx 
as states could support education programs for prisoners. Both parties agreed that federal work-study should 
better align with students’ career paths, while Republicans would further like federal work-study dollars to have 
100% flexibility to be used off-campus.  
 
Opening Statements: 
Subcommittee Chairwoman Susan Davis (D-CA) [Full Statement] 
The students enrolling in college today—students who are 
increasingly diverse, who have fewer financial resources, who are juggling work and family obligations—these 
students are the future of our economy. Increased degree attainment contributes to the economic health of our 
towns, cities, and states. It reduces reliance on public safety net programs. It helps make our communities 
healthier and reduces rates of incarceration. Simply put, investments in quality higher education will pay for 
themselves. In fact, researchers have found that for every $1 a state invests in higher education, it receives up 
to $4.50 in return. 
 
Roughly only six out of every 10 students graduate with a degree. And the odds of graduating are worse if you 



Education & Labor Committee 5.9.19 2 ASSOCIATION OF SCHOOLS OF 
The Cost of Non-Completion in Higher Education  ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS 
 

 

are a student of color or a low-income student. Similarly, graduation rate gaps disadvantage low-income 
families, with Pell Grant recipients 18 percentage points less likely to graduate than non-Pell recipients. 
 
Today, more than one-in-three students enrolls part-time. One in every two students holds down a job while in 
college. A quarter of students care for children of their own. And more than 40 percent of students live in 
poverty. To reach graduation, these students need not only academic supports, but also wrap-around 
services—like counseling, child care support, and assistance with food and housing—so they can focus on 
studies without sacrificing necessities. Congress has a responsibility to ensure that today’s college students 
have the support they need to make it to graduation day.  
 
Subcommittee Ranking Member Lloyd Smucker (R-PA) [Full Statement] 
Part of the legacy of the Higher Education Act was making college accessible to more Americans. By 2015, 
approximately 20 million students were enrolled in postsecondary education. Just 58 percent of enrollees 
graduate in six years, not four years. This percentage measures full-time students, and as someone who was a 
non-traditional student, I know the outcomes can look far worse. 
 
We cannot afford to be complacent about that fact that 42 percent of American students are unable to 
complete their education within six years. Because this means that many of these students are exiting 
programs with significant student loan debt to their name, and without the value of the degree - hurting their 
ability to provide for themselves or their families. Easy access to taxpayer-funded student loans has driven up 
postsecondary tuition and fees so that today, aggregate student loan debt stands at a staggering $1.5 trillion, 
and the number keeps growing. The absence of downward pressure on rising costs paired with the fact that 
postsecondary institutions do not share in the risk of students’ noncompletion has woefully harmed students’ 
chances at future success. 
 
Across the country, we have more than 7 million unfilled jobs, and employers desperately need workers with 
the right skills and credentials to participate in the workforce and drive our economy forward. Now more than 
ever, we need solutions that align postsecondary education with in-demand jobs and give students in school a 
reason to finish their program. 
 
Witness Testimony 
Dr. Susan Dynarski, Professor, University of Michigan [Full Testimony] 
Dr. M. David Rudd, President and Distinguished University Professor of Psychology, The University of 

Memphis [Full Testimony] 
Dr. Pam Y. Eddinger, President, Bunker Hill Community College [Full Testimony] 
Mr. Kyle Ethelbah, MPH, Director of Federal TRIO Programs, The University of Utah [Full Testimony] 
 
Q&A 
Subcommittee Chairwoman Susan Davis (D-CA): Can you speak on the intergenerational impact that TRIO 
has on families and communities? 
Mr. Ethelbah: I used to oversee Educational Opportunity Centers and Talent Search programs in Las Vegas, 
and we worked with adults to enter and complete high school education and then postsecondary. We had full 
families enter programs and graduate. 
 
Ranking Member Lloyd Smucker (R-PA): I want to get your opinion on a proposal in the HEA reform bill last 
session. It would be a Pell bonus to students who are enrolled in enough credits to graduate on time (30 
credits per award year). Could that be a successful tool for completion rates? 
Dr. Rudd: I think so. The evidence we’ve found is that it’s small amounts of money that make a significant 
difference. 
Ranking Member Lloyd Smucker (R-PA): A barrier we hear is trying to fill out the FAFSA. What effect does 
this form have on student population? How would simplifying the form help low income students? 
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Mr. Ethelbah: Simplifying would be a good step to provide more access to individuals applying. Once FAFSA 
is submitted, the verification process has been the other barrier to move forward in college. We can look at the 
regulations for what is required to prove FAFSA info is accurate and true. 
Ranking Member Lloyd Smucker (R-PA): Over 95% of jobs since Recession have been filled with people 
with some college education. Not all careers will require baccalaureate degree but it’s important that students 
receive postsecondary education. Do students with some college have an earning potential increase and 
looking at future jobs, what will the requirements be?  
Dr. Dynarski: “Some college” category can be Associate’s degree or a certificate or some credits. Each has 
different payoffs. AA degree in sciences/STEM is quite consistently high. AA in academic fields aren’t that 
much. Certificates are largely unregulated, compared to accredited degree programs. Payoff goes up the 
longer they are except for in for-profit colleges. 
Dr. Eddinger: For adults, they need to go in and out of the workforce with the educational experience while 
supporting a family. We have to be mindful that credentials/credits need to be portable. 
 
Rep. Mark Takano (D-CA): We know students have barriers to completion. Dec 2018 GAO released report on 
food insecurity among college students. We can’t assume that students on free/reduced lunch will suddenly be 
able to afford food when they start college. The CA State University System has food distribution/bank on all 
23 campuses. What can Congress do to lessen these barriers, which helps avoid defaulting? What should a 
basic needs or completion grant program in HEA look like? 
Dr. Eddinger: We can’t food pantry a way out of this problem. We need to index need for students – we need 
to account for total cost. Unmet needs of students on my campus is $5,000. Not only indexing Pell to inflation 
but also basic needs and make it part of the calculation. Align policies for Pell with programs like SNAP so 
work requirements can be substituted for study requirements. It’s a long-term policy issue. 
Rep. Mark Takano (D-CA): Should we think of a federal-state partnership? 
Dr. Eddinger: It needs to be a partnership. Cal Grants and Pell work together in CA so students can use Pell 
for living and Cal Grants for tuition and fees. There needs to be an alignment between federal and state 
implementation. A matching program or percentage program.  
 
Rep. Brett Guthrie (R-KY): Currently, the federal government has ineffective insurance and counseling for 
students with financial aid. I introduced with Rep. Suzanne Bonamici (D-OR) the Empowering Students 
through Enhancing Financial Counseling Act which requires more counseling for students with financial aid. 
What recommendations do you have to improve financial counseling process? 
Dr. Rudd: Students don’t understand specifically when money is borrowed and payment structure over the 
long term. Most students change their major. For Pell students, eventually they’ll expend loan capacity and not 
be able to finish. There’s local advising and financial advising and they need to go hand in hand. 
Rep. Brett Guthrie (R-KY): How can University of Memphis Research Foundation helping students gain work 
experience in relevant fields and improving career pathways used as a model? 
Dr. Rudd: It provides a pathway for practical experience and work for a reasonable wage. Each graduate has 
gone on to work full time for those companies and they love that.  
Dr. Eddinger: We have a learn and earn program. We’ve run about 450 students through it with no corporate 
experience and they come back and are ready. It pays $15/hr and pays transportation. It doesn’t really matter 
in the field but it’s being in the workplace. Counseling is helping students map out 2 or 4 years to navigate the 
narrow lanes rather than wander. 
 
Rep. Pramila Jayapal (D-WA): I have a college for all bill includes federal-state partnerships, total cost of 
education, and burdens of student debt. Federal investment to ensure students can graduate debt free is the 
key solution. You state that because rising student debt has shifted financial risk to students, graduation from 
college is even more important – can you speak more on that? 
Dr. Dynarski: Default rates is not the college graduates. It’s overwhelmingly the people who got a few credits 
and then exited with a few thousand dollars of debt but then can’t support expenses. Employers, credit cards, 
and housing managers check credit and they can be denied. 
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Rep. Elise Stefanik (R-NY): We are facing historic student loan debt $1.5 trillion in total, increasing college 
completion can help tackle this. Can you talk about transfer student challenges and risks as a result with 
completion? What are best practices/? 
Dr. Eddinger: From community college point of view, we fight the brand issue. Credits are accepted when 
transferred. My credits are accepted at MIT but not some state colleges. Without alignment, students will 
repeat courses. 
Dr. Rudd: Clear articulation agreements are needed. The other risk in STEM is question of whether or not 
preliminary courses prepare students well for advanced courses at the university level. Faculty needs to work 
together between 2- and 4-year institutions for curriculum development.  
Rep. Elise Stefanik (R-NY): Community colleges are exceptional in my district. How can we reform federal 
work study so more students can work in jobs related to their academic courses of student? 
Dr. Rudd: We should explore and partner with corporate partners, but we’re restricted in work study funding. A 
majority of those are private opportunities but find a way to leverage federal dollars to expand that base, which 
could be achieved if we had flexibility in how funds were expended. 
Dr. Eddinger: We have students who use work study to serve as peer mentors or tutors to be role models. 
Social contract promotes retention. They need to be tied tighter. 
 
Vice Chair Andy Levin (D-MI): Completion and intersection on cost of college was a huge problem. Dr. 
Dynarski, it’s clear from your research that student’s likelihood of success depends on what institution they 
attend. How does high cost of college affect completion? 
Dr. Dynarski: Low income are concentrated in community colleges, non-selective 4 year, and for-profit. Elite 
universities per student expenditure is about $40,000 per year compared to $10,000 in community colleges. 
Community colleges traditionally have been access institutions which is why disadvantaged students are 
attracted. 
Vice Chair Andy Levin (D-MI): Low income students often work multiple jobs while in school. What impact do 
these long hours have on a student’s ability to complete on time? 
Dr. Eddinger: The issue is mathematics. 5 classes take up 45 hours a week of studying and being in class. 
There’s the time issue aside from taking care of families.  
Dr. Rudd: Every single intervention we’ve done that lowered work demands improved performance and 
graduation time. 
 
Full Committee Ranking Member Virginia Foxx (R-NC): WSJ published an article on dual enrollment 
courses. Author cited study by University of Texas that dual credit courses were 3x more likely to graduate 
college compared to those who didn’t take dual credit courses. Have you seen similar results? 
Dr. Dynarski: It smooths the process. Students who dual enroll are excellent students anyway but not a 
solution for students who tend to go to community college after high school.  
Full Committee Ranking Member Virginia Foxx (R-NC): Do you use objective benchmarks to measure 
students progress over time and to what extent do you change your program structure to make sure you’re 
using proven strategies to help students get a college degree? 
Mr. Ethelbah: DoED requires us to report based on student who persists from one year to the next, remains in 
good standing, and gradates within 6 years. We’ve worked with Office of Institutional Analysis to make sure we 
meet those benchmarks and what supports we can introduce. We have a course offered called Developmental 
Math and we studied our students who took and didn’t take our course. Students did better in our course and 
going into the next level. We introduced a math navigator position to help students prepare.  
Full Committee Ranking Member Virginia Foxx (R-NC): You all cite 6-year graduation rate – perpetuating 
this narrative is detrimental. How is University of Memphis and venture companies helping students graduate 
in 4 years? 
Dr. Rudd: We need to talk more around 4-year graduation rates. Dual enrollment helps. Our company, that we 
will expand, provides resources necessary for students to focus on full time load. It helps reduce debt, 
graduation time, and helps with career pathways. 
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Full Committee Chairman Bobby Scott (D-VA): Nearly 2/3 of students participating in student support 
services at Thomas Nelson Community College either completed a degree or transferred to 4 year. How does 
Memphis Advantage program compare to TRIO program? 
Dr. Rudd: Very similar but we do it with private money. Our students leave the program because of 1) money 
and 2) psychosocial stressors.  
Full Committee Chairman Bobby Scott (D-VA): You mention number of hours worked as detrimental to 
progress. Number of hours to work without affecting academic achievement? 
Dr. Rudd: We have capped the work hours in our ventures program at 20 hours.  
Full Committee Chairman Bobby Scott (D-VA): Several of you mention 6-year graduation rate. What do you 
think of programs that would provide more Pell assistance if you are on target for 4-year graduation than 6? 
Dr. Rudd: I would support. A bonus to move through is very good idea. Along with many universities are 
finding tuition reduction if you move more quickly.  
Dr. Dynarski: Those who graduate in 2 years instead of 3 at community college cost a lot less. The ASAP 
Program that CUNY (expanded to Ohio) costs less to produce degree than other community colleges do 
because students get through quicker. You spend more per student per year but less per degree. 
Full Committee Chairman Bobby Scott (D-VA): Can you speak on financial aid for remedial courses? 
Dr. Dynarski: Extending Pell for students who need more support who may use their Pell for remedial courses 
before even getting to their credit bearing courses. 
 
Rep. Gregorio Kilili Sablan (D-NMI): How can we hold schools accountable for completion rates?  
Dr. Eddinger: In the past, especially with short-term or vocational programs, we’ve tried gainful employment 
reporting. Those things are fine. Colleges are happy to be held accountable. If you don’t resource the colleges 
to get the job then, what can we measure? 
 
Rep. Glenn Grothman (R-WI): I see students who complete college go later to technical school. What 
percentage of high school graduates ought to go to college? 
Dr. Dynarski: We’re at 30% getting a BA. For low-income students, it’s more like 10%. We tend to live in 
places where college educated people aggregate. 
Rep. Glenn Grothman (R-WI): Does it concern you when people are unsatisfied with their degree and go back 
to school or CTE? 
Dr. Eddinger: No, I believe workplace skills are outpacing college programs. Folks have to learn how to learn. 
Rep. Glenn Grothman (R-WI): I know many institutions require SAT/ACT test. Is there a correlation on 
SAT/ACT results and graduate in 5 or 6 years? 
Dr. Rudd: Internal data indicates that high school GPA is a better indicator of when you’ll graduate. 
Rep. Glenn Grothman (R-WI): Is SAT/ACT relevant? 
Dr. Dynarski: SAT/ACT provides a consistent measure across high schools that may have different GPA 
standards. 
Rep. Glenn Grothman (R-WI): Is there correlation between taking more dual enrollment and finishing in 5 or 6 
years? 
Dr. Eddinger: A way higher level of college participation in 80s for those in early college or dual. By the time 
they get out of dual enrollment, they’re at college level and not doing introductory courses. 
Mr. Ethelbah: Students in dual from TRIO come in with higher levels and decrease time to graduate. 
 
Rep. Suzanne Bonamici (D-OR): Opportunities for Success Bill that I introduced to modernize the funding for 
work study and align federal work-study with students’ careers, interest, and goals. In NW Oregon – Future 
Connects – that provides low income, first generation students at Portland Community College with 
personalized advising, college success coach, internships ,and intensive summer orientation program. 7/10 at 
2-year college and 6/10 at 4-year college experience food insecurity. 20% of food insecure students receive 
SNAP. 7% of homeless students received housing assistance. What role does this play? 
Mr. Ethelbah: If your basic needs aren’t met, you can’t progress upwards. We’ve created Homeless Student 
Task Force to move forward to address these concerns. We’re using federal data for eligibility for housing (we 
have to report as additional financial assistance). Those students can be then considered in an over-award 
situation and can be penalized. 
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Dr. Eddinger: We’ve established a single stop emergency office. Half a million of investment every year and 
looking to align policy of SNAP, Pell, and other pieces. 
Dr. Rudd: Food pantry and raised private support for homeless students. We worked with new dining provider 
to address food insecurity. 
 
Full Committee Ranking Member Virginia Foxx (R-NC): Dr. Eddinger, you say in your opening statement 
“we are the source for the future workforce, for what we call ‘new-collar jobs.” Jobs that are middle-skills that 
pay well.” What are middle skills and what do BA institutions would you call higher skills? 
Dr. Eddinger: In IT, there are a series of entry level programming jobs that someone with 1 or 2 years of 
education /skills training they can enter that workforce. To advance as an administrator, they will need a 
bachelor’s degree. These entry level jobs didn’t exist 5-10 years ago. 
Full Committee Ranking Member Virginia Foxx (R-NC): I want to work with you to see what they get in BA 
degree compared to the 1-2 years of education.  
 
Rep. Alma Adams (D-NC): What barriers do first generation/low income students face? 
Mr. Ethelbah: The hold your spot fee is a barrier. Increase number of applications have stopped for verification 
and that’s 6-8 weeks and by the time it takes to pay enrollment deposit and get fee waived, they’re losing time 
to meet with advisors and get classes structured. 
Rep. Alma Adams (D-NC): How have microgrants or emergency grants helped students get across the finish 
line? 
Dr. Rudd: We created emergency grants because we saw students stop out with $200-300, and it’s been 
heavily utilized. It’s had disproportionate impact on vulnerable students. 
 
Rep. David Trone (D-MD): 64% of incarcerated individuals can enroll in an educational program but data 
show only 9% ever complete a program. What are your thoughts of lifting Pell ban on incarcerated individuals? 
Dr. Dynarski: If we would like prisoners to re-enter as productive members, they need a good education to do 
so. 
Rep. David Trone (D-MD): How can we make sure these programs are quality? 
Dr. Dynarski: In the past, prisons have partnered with local community college and universities.  
Rep. David Trone (D-MD): What states have done best of connecting community college with real programs 
for jobs to succeed and have real second chance? 
Dr. Dynarski: Community college students succeed. They come out with valuable skills for workforce. 
 
Rep. Susie Lee (D-NV): Community college gets the least amount of federal financial aid support while serving 
the historically underserved population. Federal dollars not being channeled to community college that are 
situated that are vying for better academics. How are federal dollars going to for-profits could be spent on 
community colleges? What do you believe is best use of federal dollars? 
Dr. Dynarski: We have evidence from CA that when community college aren’t well funded, students turn to 
for-profits. Same students attend for-profits for whom college is a risky bet. For disadvantaged students, it’s 
risky. Community colleges, the public take on the risk for that bet, and it’s a safer place for them to be. Amount 
spent on instruction per dollar of revenue is much higher at community college.  
 
Full Committee Ranking Member Virginia Foxx (R-NC): I appreciate questions on Pell for prisoners. I’d like 
us to follow up on this. NC already does programs in prisons. NC people are meeting total need with state 
money. I don’t understand why we want to burden people all over this country by giving Pell when the states 
can take care of this. There are good programs all over the country. Chairwoman, I’d like to get info into the 
record about programs in the state prisons. I’d like to discuss flexibility for federal work study. Under current 
conditions, only 25% of work study can be used off campus. 75% on campus and I think it’s ridiculous. Under 
the PROSPER Act last year, we allowed all money to be used off campus because we believe there should be 
more financial aid available for students to go to apprenticeships that lead to real jobs. How much work study 
could you use for students to get real jobs? 
Dr. Rudd: A vast majority if not all. We have great partners that would be eager to create pathways. 
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Full Committee Ranking Member Virginia Foxx (R-NC): I’d like to put in the record from College Board 
statistics compared HBCUs, for-profit, and public associate degree granting colleges. There are 98 HBCUs 
and 4 have a graduation rate over 58%. HBCUs with a higher than average starting salary is 2. There are 817 
for-profits and 260 have a graduation rate over 58%. 32% of for-profits outperform national graduate rate 
average. For-profits have higher than average starting salary in 29 institutions, higher percentage than HBCU 
and 2 year. There are 1,268 2-year public associate degree granting colleges and 52 have a graduation rate 
over 58%. 55 of 1,268 2-year institutions have a higher than average starting salary. I believe community 
college can do better but we need to treat all sectors equally. We should have accountability for all sectors.  
 
Closing Statements 
Full Committee Ranking Member Virginia Foxx (R-NC) 
One thing I’m proud of is that we as a Committee has begun to talk about skills education in conjunction with 
what is traditionally called higher education or as I prefer postsecondary education. Higher order skills aren’t 
being taught anymore. When we talk about skills education as an integral part of postsecondary education, 
we’re getting closer to taking a holistic view of education. It’s not just BA programs or liberal arts, it’s about 
having the skills to do the jobs that our country needs and the jobs people want to do. We need to be more 
mindful when we talk about skills that we don’t forget about life skills.  
 
Traditional students are increasing becoming older and have some level of independence before 
postsecondary education. But let’s consider the 18-year-old freshman and for many, postsecondary is the first 
taste of independence. We need to be careful about limiting their exposure to the tough decisions an 
independent citizen has to make. Everyone here has heard me say this before, it took me 7 years to finish my 
BA program because I was in the same position many students are in today especially older students even 
though I started at 18. The cost of college was very high. You may look at me and assume that I went to school 
so long ago that things are so different now that I wouldn’t understand.  
 
I came from poverty and didn’t see running water in a house until I was 14. College costs have changed but 
the trappings of poverty have not changed. To eat and support myself and my husband and provide for our 
family, I had to work while in school. That’s how we learned to be adults. Those are life skills and separate 
independent adults and people who look to others for the answers. I emphasize with working students and I 
didn’t walk in their shoes. We need to be careful in talking about working students or students who don’t come 
to that table with means as welfare candidates. A few Members have gotten close to that today. We don’t need 
to view a period of government dependency as a rite of passage. Services need to be reserved for those who 
need them.  
 
We need to keep postsecondary as a learning experience for job and life skills. We don’t need to let institutions 
off the hook. I’ve long said institutions need to be more responsive to the students they sign on to serve. From 
the witnesses, I’ve heard an increasing willingness to better serve the life needs of the students that aren’t just 
academic. Good that you’re stepping up. Let’s see more institutions step up. Let’s not give the government an 
excuse to put its hooks deeper into college campuses/student life. When a student is admitted to an institution, 
it as to be a 2-way agreement. The student commits to meeting academic standards and a steep financial 
commitment and the institution has a commitment to help them. It’s that simple.  
 
Subcommittee Chairwoman Susan Davis (D-CA) 
We have worked hard on this committee to broaden what the public and students see as higher education. 
When people move on through apprenticeships or college programs or universities, they’re all participating in 
that. The payoff for our country is great. That’s what we’ve been trying to focus on. We need to make sure 
people complete. When that doesn’t happen, we know the consequences can be great for the individual and 
their families. The reality is that it’s difficult for young people/all students to complete college. Nontraditional 
students or not we gain so much more when we’re able to help support those students, psychosocial or 
wraparound services. When they complete, the payoff is so much greater. It’s not so much about government 
services rather than providing the structure and mentors. Too many students are alone at a difficult time and 
that’s what we work to do. Pell grants are important. Without Pell, students couldn’t be successful. Other 
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services have to be there also. Mr. Ethelbah, you’ve been able to give back as a result of the support you 
received. We have to make sure our education system supports students through graduation and that goes for 
other programs they access throughout their life.  


